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The Andrew Jackson Donelson House is a deteriorated wooden structure 
located on the east bank of the Hushpuckena Creek two and one-half miles 
southwest of Duncan, Bolivar County, Mississippi. Although thoroughly 
vernacular in construction, the Donelson House features some unusual details 
and, in spite of its modest size and remote location, some surprisingly 
sophisticated Greek Revival woodwork.

The one-story structure is arranged in an L-shaped plan containing 
three principal chambers, two passages, and broad verandas. Covered with 
tin over wood sheathing, the gable roof forms a hip at the meeting of the 
structure's two arms. Three single-flue chimneys, two of which are exposed 
at the gable ends, remain extant. Clapboarding is used to cover a structural 
system of dressed and chinked logs on the exterior, while the interior is 
finished with flush boards and plaster.

The east, or principal elevation, is divided into five bays, with the 
entrance placed on the center axis. A double-leaf door with fielded panels 
is flanked by sidelights and transom treated with sham muntins. Windows 
are double hung with six-over-six lights and are surrounded by architraves 
treated with molded backhands that spring from miniature plinths and corner 
blocks. Sheltering the east elevation is a seven-bay veranda which retains 
several original simple square columns with rudimentary capitals and bases.

The veranda continues along the side or south elevation, which is 
distinguished by a well-proportioned Greek Revival frontispiece containing a 
double-leaf door only a portion of which is original sidelights, and a 
transom. The architrave is battered and eared and raised slightly on axis 
to suggest a pediment. A single double-hung window flanks the frontispiece 
on the east, and two similar windows flank it on the west. Each is hung in 
a simple architrave enriched with mitered backhand. Although the profiles 
and joining of the molding differ on the south and east elevations, they are 
thought to be of a single building phase.

The rear elevations are fronted by verandas which were partially en­ 
closed on the west in c. 1910 to house a single narrow chamber. Of the 
three doorways opening onto the rear verandas, two are contained in sub­ 
stantial frontispieces which mirror those on the front and side elevations 
and repeat exactly their designs and details.

The interior of the Donelson House is a straightforward arrangement of 
space dictated by the limitations of log construction and the need for proper 
ventilation. A central passage connects the front and rear verandas and is 
flanked by a dining room on the south and a sitting room on the north. 
Another passage and chamber occupy the space remaining behind the dining room. 
The rooms are constructed as separate units, sharing only a common roof, 
with four large frontispieces functioning as screens between the independent 
structures in what would otherwise be a "dog trot" plan.

Interior trim is limited to the woodwork of doors, windows, mantels, 
and baseboards. Typical doors are four paneled with deep ogee-and-bead
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
The Donelson House is believed to be the oldest extant structure in 

Bolivar County, Mississippi, and is a locally significant example of verna­ 
cular construction techniques and provincial Greek Revival design. In addi­ 
tion, it is the only residence in the state associated with Andrew Jackson 
Donelson (1799-1871), a prominent soldier, lawyer, politician, diplomat, and 
nephew of President Jackson.

Donelson, a native of Tennessee, was engaged in Delta cotton production 
as early as the 1840s (Tennessee Historical Magazine 33:159). His first 
appearance as a buyer of land in Bolivar County is on January 8, 1857, when 
A. M. Boyd conveyed 1,579 acres along the Hushpuckena Creek to Donelson, who 
paid $46,358 for the property. Included in the purchase was lot eight of 
Section twenty-three, containing the site of what is now known as the 
Donelson House (Bolivar County, Deed Book F, p. 53). Because of incomplete 
or vague tax and land records, it is impossible to assign a specific date 
to the Donelson House. Its Greek Revival trim, found on doors, architraves, 
and frontispieces, would suggest the period of the 1850s, but whether or not 
the trim is contemporary with the basic log structure is impossible to deter­ 
mine. In any case, the Donelson House as it now stands is a valuable document 
illustrating a typical vernacular plantation residence of the 1850s.

By the time Donelson purchased his Bolivar County plantation in 1857, he 
had reached the end of a colorful, but disappointing, career. As the nephew 
and namesake of Andrew Jackson, his public and private lives were from the 
beginning closely tied to the President's. Born on August 25, 1799, Donelson 
was left fatherless at an early age and was brought to "The Hermitage" to live 
with Andrew and Rachel Donelson Jackson. In 1822, Donelson graduated from 
West Point and during the Seminole Campaign was appointed aide-de-camp to 
General Jackson. After leaving the military, he studied law at Transylvania 
University and became Jackson's private secretary during most of his presi­ 
dential administration (1829-1837). Donelson's first wife, Emily, served as 
White House hostess until her death in 1836. Upon his uncle's retirement, 
Donelson returned to Nashville to practice law, but in 1844 was appointed by 
President Tyler as charge d'affaires for the purpose of negotiating an 
annexation with the newly independent Republic of Texas. His public service 
was continued by President Polk, who appointed him minister to Prussia in 
1846. Donelson returned to the United States in 1849 and two years later 
became editor of the Washington Union. Forced by sectional issues to split 
with the Democratic party, Donelson later became deeply involved in the 
nativist movement. His public career ended abruptly in 1856 as a result of 
his unsuccessful bid for the vice-presidency on the Know-Nothing ticket headed 
by Millard Fillmore. Shortly after Buchanan and Breckinridge were elected,
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moldings and are surrounded by wide architraves with the unusual backhand that 
springs from small plinths and corner blocks. Window architraves, which are 
continued below the sill, are treated in a similar fashion. The one mantel 
that can be identified as original is currently located in the rear chamber, 
detached from the chimney. It is a simple pilastered design with a three- 
part frieze and a large cavetto supporting a plain shelf. In spite of its 
deteriorated state, the Donelson House retains most of its original woodwork 
which, remarkably enough, is fairly well preserved.

8. Donelson retired to private life to resume his law and planting activities
(Dictionary of American Biography 5:363-4 The National Cyclopedia of American 
Biography 7:489).

Like most planters, Donelson resided on his plantation only seasonally, 
leaving overseers to conduct the day to day activities during most of the 
year. By 1868, however, Donelson had become a permanent citizen of Bolivar 
County (Population Schedules, Bolivar County, 1870; Tax Boll, Bolivar County, 
1868) and he continued to live there until his death on June 26, 1871. The 
Hinds County Gazette chronicled the event simply: "He had been unwell for 
several days at his plantation in Bolivar County, Mississippi and repaired to 
Memphis for medical attendance. The immediate cause of death was congestion 
of the bowels."

After many years of neglect, the Donelson House has reached the final 
stages of deterioration. Its preservation has only recently become a matter 
of local concern, and the current owners are willing to encourage a public 
restoration program.

9. Jackson, Miss. Semi-Weekly Clarion, June 30, 1871.

Jackson, Alien, ed. Dictionary of American Biography. 20 vols. New York: 
Charles Scribner's Sons, 1928.

Mississippi. Auditor. Real and Personal Tax Rolls, Bolivar County, 1864, 
1868. Mississippi Department of Archives and History. Microfilm.

Raymond, Miss. Hinds County Gazette, July 6, 1871.

Sillers, Florence W., comp. History of Bolivar County, Mississippi. 
Jackson, Miss.: Hederman Brothers, 1948.

Sioussat, St. George L. "Selected Letters, 1844-1845, from Donelson Papers, 
with Introduction and Notes by the Editor." Tennessee Historical 
Magazine 3:134-62.
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The National Cyclopedia of American Biography. Vol. 7. New York: James T. 
White and Co., 1897.

United States. Bureau of the Census. Population Schedules, Bolivar County, 
Mississippi, 1970.

10. and the Northeast Quarter of the Northwest Quarter of Section 25, subject 
to easements and rights of way of record; containing 635 acres, more or 
less, all in Township 25 North, Range 6 West, of the Second Judicial 
District of Bolivar County, Mississippi.
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